This Instrument Prepared By: G. Scott Frazier Attorney at Law 2223 8th Street Tuscaloosa, AL 35401 (205)344-4555

STATE OF ALABAMA COUNTY OF TUSCALOOSA 2000 1778
Filed in the Above
INCORPORATION Book & Page
06-21-2000 10:09:29 AM
W. Hardy McCollum - Probate Judge
Tuscaloosa County, Alabama

BY-LAWS OF THE

NORTHWIND HOMEOWNER'S ASSOCIATION, INC.

These By-Laws of the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. are promulgated pursuant to the Alabama Non-Profit Corporation Act (Section 10-3A-1 et seq., Code of Alabama (1975) for the purposes of governing the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc., a non-profit corporation (hereinafter referred to as the "Association"). It is anticipated by Sunn Properties, LLC, an Alabama limited liability company (hereinafter the "Developer) that the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. may be developed in multiple phases, the first being the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc., Phase One. It is anticipated that the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc., Phase One, and subsequent phases of the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc., if developed, may contain certain recreation areas and other common areas, that the streets in all phases of the subdivision, all of said phases being hereinafter referred to collectively as "the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc.", may have medians containing street lights, a water sprinkling system, shrubs, trees, bushes and other landscaping and that a wall may be constructed on property owned by the Association at the entrance of the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. (hereinafter the "Entrance Wall"). The care and upkeep of the Entrance Wall, the street medians, the recreation area and any other common areas in the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc., as well as the payment of all utility bills associated therewith, shall be the responsibility of the Association and shall be governed by the Articles of Incorporation of the Association and these By-Laws.

All present and future owners, mortgagees, lessees, and occupants of lots in the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. are subject to these By-Laws, any rules or

regulations which may be promulgated by the Association, and all covenants, agreements, restrictions and easements of record which may apply to any lot in the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as the "title conditions"). The acceptance of a Deed or the occupancy of any lot in the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. shall constitute an agreement that these By-Laws and all title conditions, as they may be hereafter amended, are accepted and ratified, and shall be complied with.

2000 1779
Filed in the Above

Filed in the Above INCORPORATION Book & Page 06-21-2000 10:09:29 AM

ARTICLE I – OFFICE

The Association shall have and continue to maintain in this State a registered office and registered agent whose office is identical with such registered office. The office address of the registered office in Alabama at the time of incorporation is 1440 22ND Avenue, Tuscaloosa, AL 35401. The name of the registered agent of the corporation at the time of this incorporation at said address is Phillip Kinard.

ARTICLE II - MEMBERSHIP AND MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS

- 1. Qualifications. The members of the Association shall consist of all of the record owners of lots in the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. In the event that a lot is owned by more than one (1) owner, the owners of said lot shall designate by a certificate signed by all of the record owners which one of the said owners shall represent them as the member of the Association.
- 2. Change of Membership. Change of membership in the Association shall be established by the recording in the Probate Office of Tuscaloosa County, Alabama, of a deed or other instrument establishing a record title to a lot in the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc., and the delivery to the Association of a certified copy of such instrument, the owner designated by such instrument thereby becoming a member of the Association a certified copy of such instrument, the owner designated by such instrument thereby becoming a member of the Association. The membership of the prior owner shall be thereby terminated. If a lot is owned by more than one (1) person, the person entitled to

- cast the vote for the lot shall be designated by a certificate signed by all of the record owners of the lot and filed with the Association.
- 3. <u>Voting Rights.</u> The title to each lot in the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. carries with such title the right to cast one (1) vote on the basis of one (1) vote per lot, at any regularly or specially called meeting of the members of the Association.
- 4. Annual Meetings. Annual meetings of members shall be held at the office of the Association in the month of January of each year, on a date and at such time as the Board of Directors shall designate in the notice of such meeting provided to the members; subject, however, to the provisions of Section 14 of this Article. The annual meeting shall be held for the purpose of electing directors and of transaction any other business authorized to be transacted by the members.
- 5. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the members may be called by the Board of Directors, the President, or by a member of the Association for the purpose of considering and acting upon any matters of interest to the Association and its membership, and taking any other action not inconsistent with these By-Laws and the Articles of Incorporation, including the adoption of resolutions declaring the desirability of any further action recommended by the membership.
- 6. Notice of Meetings. Notice of all members' meetings stating the date, time, place, and object for which the meeting was called shall be mailed to each member not less than ten (10) nor more than thirty (30) days prior to the date of such meeting. Such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail addressed to the member at his address as it appears on the records of the Association, postage prepaid. Notices of meetings may be waived either before or after meetings.
- 7. Voting in Person or by Proxy. A member may vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by the member or his duly authorized attorney-in-fact. No proxy shall be valid except for the particular meeting designated therein, and no proxy shall be honored unless filed with the Secretary of the Association before the appointed time of the meeting.
- 8. Quorum. A majority of the members shall constitute a quorum at any meeting.

- 9. <u>Vote Required to Transact Business.</u> When a quorum is present at any meeting, the holders of a majority of the voting rights present in person or represented by written proxy shall decide any questions brought before the meeting, unless the question is one upon which, by express provision of the law, the Articles of Incorporation, or the By-Laws, a different number is required, in which case the express provision shall govern and control the decision in question.
- 10. <u>Consents.</u> Any action which may be taken by a vote of the members may also be taken by written consent to such action signed by the members required to take such action if such members were present and voting.
- Adjourned Meetings. If any meeting or members cannot be organized because a quorum has not attended the members who are present, either in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present.
- 12. Order of Business. The order of business at annual members' meetings and, as far as practical, at all other members' meetings, shall be according to the latest edition of Robert's Rules of Order.
- 13. <u>Parliamentary Rules.</u> The latest edition of <u>Robert's Rules of Order</u> shall govern the conduct of members' meetings when no in conflict with the Articles of Incorporation and these By-Laws.
- 14. <u>Developer Control.</u> Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, there shall be no meetings of the membership of the Association and none shall be lawful until the earlier of:
 - (i) Six (6) months after ninety (90%) percent of the lots in the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc., Phase One, and any other phases of the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. which may be developed, have been conveyed by the Developer; or
 - (ii) The date that the Developer, its successors or assigns, selects to terminate its control of the Association.

ARTICLE III - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 1. Members. The Board of Directors of the Association shall consist of not less than three (3) nor more than five (5) members, as shall from time to time be determined and fixed by the vote of a majority of the voting rights present at any annual meeting of the members. Any responsible person, who need not be a member of the Association, shall be eligible to be a director. The first Board of Directors name in the Articles of Incorporation of the Association shall hold office until their successors shall be duly elected and qualified. Each person on the Board of Directors shall hold office until his successors shall be duly elected and qualified. The word "director", as sometimes used herein, shall mean a person elected to and serving on the Board of Directors.
- 2. <u>Removal.</u> Any director may be removed for cause by the vote of the holders of a majority of the voting rights present in person or represented by written proxy at any annual or special meeting of the members of the Association at which a quorum is present.
- 3. <u>Vacancies.</u> Any vacancy occurring on the Board of Directors, including vacancies occurring from the removal of a director, may be filled by a majority vote of remaining members of the Board of Directors at an annual or special meeting.
- 4. <u>Annual Meetings.</u> The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held in January of each year at the office of the Association. Notice of the place and hour of each such meeting shall be given to each director at least five (5) days prior to each such meeting. Such notice may be given in writing or by telephone.
- 5. Special Meetings. Special meeting of the Board of Directors for any purpose may be called by the President or upon the written request of any two (2) directors, upon at least five (5) days' notice to each director, and shall be held at such place or places as may be determined by the directors, or as shall be stated in the call of the meeting. Such notice may be given either in writing or by telephone.
- 6. <u>Waiver of Notice.</u> Any director may waive notice of a meeting ether before or after the meeting, and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of notice.

- 7. Quorum. A quorum shall consist of the directors entitled to casta majority of the my votes of the entire Board of Directors. The acts of the Board of Directors approved by a majority of the votes present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall constitute the acts of the Board or Directors. The joinder of a director in the action of a meeting by signing and concurring in the minutes thereof shall constitute the presence of such director for the purposes of determining a quorum.
- 8. <u>Powers and Duties.</u> The Board of Directors shall have the following powers and duties:
 - (a) To elect officers of the Association as hereinafter provided.
 - (b) To administer the affairs of the corporation and its property.
 - (c) To estimate the amount of the annual budget and to make and collect assessments, including annual, special and supplemental assessments, against lot owners to defray the costs, expenses, and losses of the Association.
 - (d) To use the proceeds of assessments in the exercise of its powers and duties.
 - (e) To maintain, repair, replace, and operate the property of the Association.
 - (f) To purchase insurance upon the property of the Association and insurance, including fidelity bond coverage, for the protection of the Association and its members.
 - (g) To reconstruct improvements after casualty and to further improve the Association property.
 - (h) To make and amend reasonable rules and regulations respecting the use of Association property.
 - (i) To enforce by legal means the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws and other Rules and Regulations of the Association.
 - (j) To retain legal counsel.
 - (k) To employ personnel to perform the services required for proper operation of the Association.

- (l) Unless otherwise provided herein, to comply with the instructions of a majority of the members, as expressed in the resolution adopted at any annual or special meeting of the members.
- (m) To exercise all other powers and duties of the Board of Directors of a corporation organized under the Alabama Non-Profit Corporation Act, and all powers and duties of the Board of Directors referred to in these By-Laws, and any other powers and duties consistent with Alabama law.
- 9. <u>Compensation.</u> No director shall be compensated for his services as such.

ARTICLE IV – OFFICERS

- 1. <u>Election.</u> At each annual meeting, the Board of Directors shall elect the officers of the Association, any two (2) or more of which may be held by one (1) person, except that the President shall not be the Secretary. The officers of the Association shall be as follows:
 - (a) A President, who shall be a director and who shall preside over the meetings of the Board of Directors and of the members, and who shall be the chief executive officer of the Association.
 - (b) A Vice President, who shall be a director and shall, in the absence or disability of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President.
 - (c) A Secretary, who shall keep the financial records and books of the account, as well as maintain the minutes of all meetings.
 - (d) Such additional officers as the Board of Directors shall see fit to elect.
- 2. Powers. The respective officers shall have the general powers usually vested in such officer of a non-profit corporation, provided that the Board of Directors may delegate any specific powers to any other officer or impose such limitation or restrictions upon the powers of any officer as the Board of Directors may see fit.
- 3. <u>Term.</u> Each officer shall hold office for the term of one (1) year and until his successor shall have been elected and qualified.

- 4. <u>Vacancies.</u> Vacancies in any office may be filled by the Board of Directors at special meetings thereby; and any officer may be removed at any time by a majority vote of the Board of Directors at a special meeting thereof.
- 5. <u>Compensation.</u> The compensation, if any, of all officers shall be fixed by the Board of Directors.
- 6. <u>Developer Control.</u> Anything to the contrary contained herein notwithstanding, until such time as the conditions referred to in Article II, Section 14, shall have occurred, the Developer shall be entitled to nominate and appoint all directors and officers of the Association and remove same in exercise of its absolute discretion.

ARTICLE V - ASSESSMENTS AND ACCOUNT MATTERS

- 1. <u>Accounting Records.</u> The Board of Directors shall provide for the maintenance of accounting records for the Association such records to be maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
- 2. Budget. The Board of Directors shall cause to be prepared an estimated annual budget for each fiscal year of the Association. Such budget shall take into account the estimated expenses of the Association, and the financial requirements for the year, including salaries, wages, payroll taxes, supplies, materials, parts, services, maintenance, repairs, replacements, landscaping, insurance, fuel, power, utilities and their expenses, including any expenses necessary for the care and upkeep of the recreation areas, other common areas, the street medians, the Entrance Wall with the street lights and water sprinkling system in the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. (as distinguished from individual mortgage payments, real estate taxes, and individual expense for utility services billed or charged to the separate lot owners on an individual or separate basis.) The expenses of the Association shall be those expenses designated by the Board of Directors pursuant to these By-Laws. The annual budget shall provide for amounts required to provide for contingencies for the year, and a reserve for replacements in reasonable amounts as determined by the Board of Directors.
- 3. <u>Assessments.</u> The estimated annual budget for each fiscal year shall be approved by the Board of Directors, a copy thereof shall be furnished by the Board of

2000 1786
Filed in the Above
INCORPORATION Book & Page
06-21-2000 10:09:29 AM

Directors to each member no later than ten (10) days before the beginning of such year. Each member will be assessed an annual assessment. The assessment for each member shall be equal. On or before the first day of the year covered by the annual budget, each member shall pay his respective annual assessment.

- 4. <u>Accounts.</u> The Board of Directors shall cause to be kept a separate account record for each member showing the assessments charged to and paid by such member, and the status of his account from time to time.
- 5. Payment of Assessment. It shall be the duty of every member to pay his annual assessment. If any member shall fail or refuse to make any such payment when due, the Association and the Board of Directors shall have the authority to exercise and enforce any and all rights and remedies as provided for in these By-Laws, or otherwise available at law or in equity, for the collection of all unpaid assessments. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Developer shall not be subject to assessment for lots owned by it during the Developer Control Period as specified in Article II, Section 14 herein. Such exemption of the Developer from payment of assessments during the Developer Control Period shall not in any way affect the liability of a member for payment of the assessments due from it.
- 6. Non-Payment of Assessment. Any assessment levied pursuant to these By-Laws which is not paid on the date when due shall be delinquent and shall, together with such interest thereon and cost of collection thereof, as hereinafter provided, thereupon become a continuing lien upon the lot against which such assessment is levied and shall bind such lot in the hands of the then owner, his heirs, devices, personal representatives and assigns. The personal obligation of the then owner to pay such assessment, however, shall also remain his personal obligation for the applicable statutory period. If the assessment is not paid within thirty (30) days after its delinquency date, the assessment may, upon resolution of the Board of Directors, bear interest at the rate of twelve (12%) percent per annum, and the Association may bring an action at law against the owner personally obligated to pay the same, or foreclose the lien against the lot (to the same extent, including a foreclosure sale and deficiency decree, and subject to the same procedures as may

then be applicable to mortgages or other liens upon real property under the laws of the State of Alabama), in either of which events interest, costs and reasonable attorneys' fees shall be added to the amount of each assessment. No owner may waive or otherwise escape liability for the assessments herein provided for by non-use of the common areas or abandonment of his lot.

- Subordination Provision. The lien of assessments provided for in these By-Laws shall be subordinate to the lien of any mortgage or mortgages hereafter placed upon any lot subject to assessment; provided, however, that such assessments which have become due and payable prior to a sale or transfer of such lot pursuant to a foreclosure deed, decree of foreclosure, or any other proceeding or transfer in lieu of foreclosure. Such sale or transfer shall not relieve such lot from liability for any assessments thereafter becoming due, nor from the lien of any such subsequent assessment.
- 8. Records. The Board of Directors shall cause to be keep a detailed and accurate record in chronological order of the receipts and expenditures of the Association.

ARTICLE VI - MISCELLANEOUS

- 1. <u>Seal.</u> The Association shall not have a seal.
- Bank Accounts. The Board of Directors may, from time to time, by resolution, authorize the maintenance of one (1) or more deposit accounts by the Association. All checks and drafts for the payment of money issued in the name of the Association shall be signed by each officer or officer's agent of the Association and in such manner as shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors.
- 3. Notice Whenever any notice or demand is required to be given by these By-Laws or the Declaration, any notices or demands so required shall be deemed sufficient if given by depositing the same in person, or depositing the same in the United States Mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the person entitled thereto at his last known post office address according to the records of The Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. and such notice shall be deemed given on the day of such mailing.

- 4. Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice whatsoever is required to be given under the provisions of any law, or under the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, or these By-Laws, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether signed before or after the time stated therein, shall be determined by the Board of Directors.
- 5. <u>Fiscal Year.</u> The fiscal year of the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc. shall end on the last day of December of each year, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VII – AMENDMENTS 06

Filed in the Above
INCORPORATION Book & Page
06-21-2000 10:09:29 AM
W. Hardy McCollum - Probate Judge
Tuscaloosa County, Alabama

These By-Laws may be amended or modified from time to time by the vote of a majority of the Board of Directors, any amendment to be set forth in writing, signed by the Secretary of the Board of Directors and recorded in the Probate Office of Tuscaloosa County, Alabama. Upon recording, each such amendment shall be effective.

The foregoing wee adopted as the By-Laws of the Northwind Homeowner's Association, Inc., an Alabama non-profit corporation, at the first meeting of the Board of Directors on the \(\sqrt{5} \) day of \(\sqrt{2000} \).

Attest:

11100

Northwind Homeowner's

Association, Inc.

Book/Pa: 2000/1778

Term/Cashier: SCAN1 / pay

Tran: 1792.118118.167623

Recorded: 06-21-2000 10:10:35

PJF Probate Judge Fee REC Recording Fee

Total Fees: \$ 30.50

2.00 28.50